RECEIVED

11-25-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2015AP001834-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

v.

ROBERT A. SCHOENGARTH,

DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT.

APPEAL FROM ORDER EXCLUDING EVIDENCE ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LA CROSSE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE RAMONA A. GONZALEZ, PRESIDING

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

> > JOHN W. KELLIS Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1083400

Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant

La Crosse County District Attorney's Office 333 Vine Street, Room 1100 La Crosse, Wisconsin 54601-3296 (608) 785-9604 (608) 789-4853 (Fax) john.kellis@da.wi.gov

STATEMENT OF FACTS			
ARGUMENT			
I. The circuit court erred by ordering exclusion of Schoengarth's field sobriety test performance at trial			
A. Standard of Review5			
B. Evidence of standardized field sobriety testing performance is relevant and probative to the issue of whether a driver is impaired5			
C. An officer's testimony describing a driver's field sobriety test performance should be admissible at trial regardless of whether a squad video corroborates that testimony6			
CONCLUSION			
FORM AND LENGTH CERTIFICATION 13			
CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 809.19(12)			
APPENDIX CERTIFICATION 14			
CERTIFICATION OF MAILING 15			

Cases

City of West Bend v. Wilkens,		
2005 WI App 36, 278 Wis.2d 643,		
693 N.W.2d 324	6,	11
State v. Munford,		

state	v. Muniora,
	2010 WI App 168, 330 Wis.2d 575,
	794 N.W.2d 2645

Statutes

Wis. Stat.	§ 904.01 5
Wis. Stat.	§ 904.02 5, 10
Wis. Stat.	§ 910.01 7
Wis. Stat.	§ 910.02 7

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2015AP001834-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT,

v.

ROBERT A. SCHOENGARTH,

DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT.

APPEAL FROM ORDER EXCLUDING EVIDENCE ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LA CROSSE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE RAMONA A. GONZALEZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the circuit court err by ordering the exclusion from trial all evidence concerning Schoengarth's performance on two of three field sobriety tests because the tests were not captured by an officer's squad vehicle video camera?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument or publication. This case may be resolved by applying established legal principles to the facts of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The plaintiff-appellant, State of Wisconsin, appeals an order granting a motion to exclude evidence. The defendant-respondent, Robert S. Schoengarth, was charged in the criminal complaint with operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), and operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b), each as a second offense (6:1-2).

Schoengarth moved in limine to exclude all evidence concerning his performance on the latter two standardized field sobriety tests, specifically the "Walk and Turn" and "One Leg Stand" balance tests (10). The trial court, the Honorable Ramona A. Gonzalez presiding, granted Schoengarth's motion after a hearing (22:13; A-Ap. 114). The trial court subsequently issued a written order consistent with its oral ruling (18; A-Ap. 117). The State now appeals (19-1).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Because this case is before this Court on appeal of a pretrial motion, most of the facts the State relies upon are taken from the criminal complaint.

During the evening hours of July 3, 2014, Investigator Chad Marcon of the Onalaska Police Department, while on patrol observed a blue truck straddle lane divider lines, swerve within its lane of travel, cross a fog line and ultimately cross the center line (6:3). Investigator Marcon activated his vehicle's emergency lights, stopping the vehicle on State Highway 35 near Kramer Road in the City of Onalaska, La Crosse County, Wisconsin (6:3).

Investigator Marcon made contact with the driver of the blue truck, identified as Robert A. Schoengarth (6:3). Upon detecting the odor of intoxicants emitting from the vehicle and garnering an admission from Schoengarth that he had consumed one beer two hours prior. Investigator Marcon asked Schoengarth to exit the vehicle to perform standardized field sobriety tests (6:3).

Investigator Marcon then administered the three standardized field sobriety tests, observing all six possible clues of impairment in the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test, all eight possible clues of impairment in the Walk-and-Turn test, and at least three clues of impairment during the One Leg Stand test before the testing was terminated (6:3). Schoengarth's test performance was not captured on video due to the darkness of night and the location of the only squad vehicle on scene equipped with a camera (22:3-4; A-Ap. 104-05).

After submitting to a preliminary breath test yielding a .14 breath alcohol concentration result, Schoengarth was arrested for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant (6:3). The State subsequently charged Schoengarth in the criminal complaint with operating while under the influence of an intoxicant and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, each as a second offense (6:1-2).

Schoengarth moved *in limine* to exclude from trial all testimony or evidence related to his performance on the Walk-and-Turn and One Leg Stand field sobriety tests (10, A-Ap. 101).

On December 2, 2014, the circuit court convened a hearing on Schoengarth's motion (22, A-Ap. 102). At the conclusion of motion hearing, the circuit court, the Honorable Ramona A. Gonzalez presiding, granted Schoengarth's motion (22:13, A-Ap. 114). After granting Schoengarth's motion in an oral ruling, the circuit court entered a written order granting the motion (18; A-Ap. 117). The State now appeals the circuit court's order excluding evidence (19-1).

ARGUMENT

I.	THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED		
	BY ORDERING	EVIDENCE	
	EXCLUSION	OF	
	SCHOENGARTH'S	FIELD	
	SOBRIETY	TEST	
	PERFORMANCE A	Γ TRIAL.	

A. Standard of Review.

This court reviews the circuit court's evidentiary decisions for an erroneous exercise of discretion. *State v. Munford*, 2010 WI App 168, ¶ 27, 330 Wis.2d 575, 794 N.W.2d 264.

В.	Evidence	of	
	standardized	field	
	sobriety	testing	
	performance	is	
	relevant and probativ		
	to the issue of	whether	
	a driver is impa	aired.	

All relevant evidence is deemed admissible at trial, except as otherwise provided by the constitutions of the United States and the state of Wisconsin, by statute, by the rules set forth in Chapters 901 through 911, or by other rules adopted by the supreme court. Wis. Stat. § 904.02.

Relevant evidence is defined as "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Wis. Stat. § 904.01. This court previously recognized that evidence of standardized field sobriety test performance is relevant and probative as to whether an individual is operating while intoxicated. *See e.g. City of West Bend v. Wilkens*, 2005 WI App 36, 278 Wis.2d 643, 693 N.W.2d 324.

> C. An officer's testimony describing a driver's field sobriety test performance should be admissible at trial regardless of whether a squad video corroborates that testimony.

Schoengarth argued during the hearing on his motion that the State should be precluded from admitting officer testimony describing his performance on the Walk-and-Turn and One-Leg-Stand standardized field sobriety tests because a squad video -- not officer testimony -- would be the best evidence of the field test performance and because a lack of video evidence eliminates Schoengarth's ability to impeach testifying officers during cross-examination using a video (22:3-4; A-Ap. 104-05).

Schoengarth advanced no argument that Investigator Marcon's expected testimony concerning the latter two field sobriety tests would be irrelevant or lack probative value concerning the jury's finding of whether Schoengarth operated a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant (22:2-4; A-Ap. 103-05).

Schoengarth offered to the circuit court no authority supporting the argument that a

prerequisite to the State's ability to offer evidence of a driver's standardized field sobriety test results hinges upon the existence of a squad video capturing the driver's performance on those tests in a well-lit area, free of obstructions (22:2-4; A-Ap. 103-05).

Schoengarth did not argue that Investigator Marcon's testimony describing performance on the latter two field sobriety tests would fall within any other evidentiary rule¹ requiring the exclusion of the officer's testimony, other than to argue that video footage would be the best possible evidence² to show how the test was performed (22:2-4; A-Ap. 103-05).

Schoengarth did not argue that the State actually, intentionally or maliciously destroyed any evidence concerning his performance on standardized field sobriety tests or that officers intentionally focused the squad video camera in a direction so as to avoid capturing his performance on video (22:2-4; A-Ap. 103-05).

¹ Schoengarth's written motion purportedly relied upon Wis. Stat. §§ 910.01 (establishing general definitions as used in the subsequent statutory subsections) and 910.02 (requiring the use at trial of an original writing, recording or photograph to prove the content of that writing, recording or photograph) as allegedly supportive of his request to exclude Investigator Marcon's testimony. Neither Schoengarth's written motion nor oral argument offered at the December 2, 2014 hearing on Schoengarth's motion explains how either statutory section would guide the circuit court's decision or otherwise require exclusion of evidence concerning field sobriety testing.

² There is no dispute that video footage capturing the commission of a crime would prove highly beneficial in criminal prosecution. However, the State is unaware of any authority, including the "Best Evidence Rule," which would prohibit the State from introducing testimony at trial simply because those intending to testify could have possibly captured their observations on video.

Schoengarth did not argue that a defendant's constitutional rights to confront his accusers, remain silent, or require the State to prove his guilt was violated because his performance on field sobriety tests was not captured on video (22:2-4; A-Ap. 103-05).

The circuit court even questioned the logic underlying Schoengarth argument during the motion hearing, inquiring as to what prevented defense counsel at trial from simply crossexamining the State's witnesses and making appropriate arguments:

THE COURT: If I don't have anything to show that they nefariously clipped the video or did anything that was an intentional misconduct, I think I let it all in. Let the jury decide which way to go.

MR. KOBY: But he loses –

THE COURT: They can see the video.

MR. KOBY: He loses his right to cross-examine with that video, and, of course, this could have been –

THE COURT: How does he lose his right to crossexamine with the video?

MR. KOBY: Because the video -he - Marcon is gonna come in and testify this is how he performed the test. That's what he's gonna say.

(22:5-6; A-Ap. 106-07).

Notwithstanding Schoengarth's failure to assert in his written motion or advance any such argument during the motion hearing, the circuit court then *sua sponte* invited a new claim on Schoengarth's behalf that a lack of squad video would force him to testify at trial to rebut testifying officers' testimony:

THE COURT: Right. And you're gonna say, your guy agreed to be videotaped; the videotape was under their control; this is what they came up with; ladies and gentlemen, my guy will – will testi – will test – has testified – oh, I see what you're saying. Then he has to testify.

MR. KOBY: He loses his right to cross-examine with that video.

The Court: And he has to testify.

Mr. Koby: That's the best evidence, and they lost it.

The Court: And that's –

Mr. Koby: Schoengarth didn't do anything.

The Court: 'Cause then that forces your guy to testify.

Mr. Koby: It does.

(22:5-6; A-Ap. 106-07)

Despite the lack of authority supporting his argument, the circuit court granted Schoengarth's motion initially in an oral ruling: MS. VASUPURAM: Well, Judge, I'll stick to my, um, initial statement that, you know, there's no evidence collected here that was destroyed in bad faith. I think the officers were working with what they were able to do in the circumstances that they found themselves in. They were on a busy highway. The cars were parked where they were able to park, and, um, the video was set up to the best of their ability to capture what they could; and this is what we have. Um, so, I – you know, essentially I feel that this is in some ways questioning the officer's credibility as far as what they would testify to as far as the results of the field sobriety tests.

The Court: And that's his right to do so, and I don't have to accept that, um, the credibility of the officers is a given. Um, I will exclude the – the conversations or any testimony with regard to the walk-and-turn test and the one-legged stand.

Mr. Koby: Thank, Your Honor.

The Court: The motion in limine is granted.

(22:12-13; A-Ap. 114).

The State maintains that by ordering the exclusion of the evidence at trial, the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in four ways.

First and foremost, the circuit court failed to articulate any reasoning underlying its decision or reference any authority supporting its decision, other than a conclusory assumption that Schoengarth may feel compelled to testify in his defense in the absence of a video capturing his test performance (22:6, 13; A-Ap. 107, 114).

The evidence which the State sought to admit at trial is relevant and probative to determinations of whether a driver is impaired as recognized in *Wilkens*, relevant evidence is deemed admissible at trial by Wis. Stat. § 904.02 unless otherwise provided by statute, rule or the constitution, and neither Schoengarth nor the circuit court were able to point to any applicable authority preventing the introduction of the State's evidence or holding that a criminal defendant's right to remain silent is violated simply because he may wish to testify contrary to evidence offered against him.

Second, the circuit court recognized that the State did nothing improper to destroy or alter evidence, nor has Schoengarth argued that the State took any steps to distort the quality of the preserved video, and as such, no evidence spoliation issues were present (22:5-6; A-Ap. 106-07). A video of the traffic stop exists and is available to both the State and Schoengarth, even if less than helpful to either party.

Third, the circuit court recognized that a lack of squad video did not leave Schoengarth without recourse to mount a defense at trial: he is free to attack the credibility of testifying officers at trial, argue that a video would have been the most credible evidence, call as a witness in his defense the passenger in his vehicle, and argue that officers intentionally failed to capture his test performance on video in attempts to prove an innocent man guilty (22:5-6, A-Ap. 106-07).

Fourth, and perhaps most importantly, to affirm the circuit court's exclusion of evidence would establish an illogical precedent whereby numerous law enforcement officers could make first-hand observations of a suspect engaging in any number of crimes yet be precluded from describing to a jury what occurred unless the incident(s) were not only captured on video but captured on video in a well-lit area, free of any weather conditions or other obstructions that may interfere with the jury's ability to see clearly what present officers observed.

the State's Ultimately, witnesses, Schoengarth's witness(es), and Schoengarth himself could offer testimony at trial concerning field sobriety test performance notwithstanding the lack of video footage. The circuit court recognized this fact, undoubtedly predicted the evidence's value to the State, but erroneously exercised its discretion by excluding the strongest evidence of alcohol impairment possessed by the The circuit court's decision State. shall significantly hinder the State from meeting its burden at trial, and that decision was made without the circuit court articulating any basis for its decision supported by law.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, the State respectfully requests that this court reverse the order of the circuit court granting Schoengarth's motion to exclude evidence.