## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

# RECEIVED

12-28-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

Appeal No.: 2015AP001834-CR

ROBERT A. SCHOENGARTH,

Defendant-Respondent.

### **RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT – RESPONDENT**

An appeal from the circuit court for La Crosse County, Honorable Ramona A. Gonzalez presiding.

James R. Koby *Koby Law LLC* 201 Main Street, 6<sup>th</sup> Floor La Crosse, WI 54601 (608) 782-1800

#

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION BY EXCLUDING, AT TRIAL, TESTIMONY REGARDING DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT'S PERFORMANCE ON TWO OF THREE VOLUNTARY FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS WHICH DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT AGREED TO PERFORM CONDITIONED UPON THE SAME BEING VIDEOTAPED SO AS TO PRESERVE EXCULPATORY INFORMATION WHERE THE QUALITY OF THE VIDEOTAPE IS SO POOR AS TO EFFECTIVELY RENDER IT "USELESS" TO DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Defendant-Respondent does not request oral argument or publication. This case may be resolved by applying established legal principles to the facts of this case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Plaintiff-Appellant, State of Wisconsin, appeals an order granting a Motion in Limine to exclude evidence. The Defendant-Respondent, Robert S. Schoengarth, was charged in the Criminal Complaint with operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a) and operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b), each as a second offense (6:1-7: R-App. 101-107). Defendant-Respondent entered not guilty pleas to both counts.

Defendant-Respondent moved the trial court for an order *in limine* excluding from use at trial testimony or evidence of any kind by Investigator Chad Marcon of the Onalaska Police Department related to the performance of Defendant-Respondent, Robert Schoengarth, on field sobriety tests, specifically, the "Walk- and-Turn" test and the "One-Leg-Stand" test (10). The motion was predicated upon the Affidavit of Robert Schoengarth (11:1-2; R-App. 108-109).

The State offered no testimony or evidence in opposition to Defendant-Respondent's Motion at the hearing on December 2, 2014 (22). No facts or evidence were offered by the prosecution in opposition prior to the hearing (22). The subject videotape was viewed by the trial court and counsel (22:8-11). The trial court, the Honorable Ramona A. Gonzalez presiding, granted Schoengarth's motion at the hearing (22) and subsequently issued a written order consistent with its oral ruling (18) from which the State now appeals (19-1).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant-Respondent does not dispute the Statement of Facts presented by Plaintiff-Appellant as the same represents an accurate paraphrasing of the Criminal Complaint.

Conspicuous, by its absence, is any reference by the State to the Affidavit of Robert Schoengarth (11:1-2; R-App. 108-109). The Affidavit of Robert Schoengarth constitutes the only "facts" before the trial court at the time of the motion hearing on December 2, 2014. Further missing from the State's Statement of Facts is the "fact" that the court reviewed the subject video prior to entering its ruling (22:8-11).

Lastly, the State offered no evidence in opposition to the Defendant-Respondent's motion.

Defendant-Respondent specifically agreed to perform voluntary field tests at the request of Investigator Chad Marcon with the understanding that his performance on the field sobriety tests would be videotaped based upon Mr. Schoengarth's belief that the same would result in exculpatory information (11:1-2; R-App. 108-109). Defendant-Respondent was positioned by Investigator Marcon between the patrol vehicle and his vehicle for what Mr. Schoengarth believed to be videotaping purposes in accordance with Defendant-Respondent's consent and request (11:1-2; R-App. 108-109).

The State, in responding to Defendant-Respondent's discovery demand, produced a videotape of the field sobriety tests. The videotape did not include the

performance of Defendant-Respondent on the Walk-and-Turn test and One-Leg-Stand test (11:1-2; R-App. 108-109).

Defendant-Respondent did not participate in the videotaping process and had no control over the videotape resulting in its lack of evidentiary value (11:1-2; R-App. 108-109).

Defendant-Respondent moved the trial court for an order *in limine* excluding from use at trial testimony or evidence of any kind by Investigator Chad Marcon of the Onalaska Police Department related to the performance of Defendant-Respondent, Robert Schoengarth, on field sobriety tests, specifically, the "Walk-and-Turn" test and the "One-Leg-Stand" test (10). The motion was predicated upon the Affidavit of Robert Schoengarth (11:1-2; R-App. 108-109).

On December 2, 2014, the circuit court had a hearing on Defendant-Respondent's motion (22). At the conclusion of the motion hearing, the circuit court granted Schoengarth's motion (22) and subsequently issued a written order consistent with its oral ruling (18) from which the State now appeals (19:1).

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION BY EXCLUDING, AT TRIAL, TESTIMONY REGARDING DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT'S PERFORMANCE ON TWO OF THREE VOLUNTARY FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS WHICH DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT AGREED TO PERFORM CONDITIONED UPON THE SAME BEING VIDEOTAPED SO AS TO PRESERVE EXCULPATORY INFORMATION WHERE THE QUALITY OF THE VIDEOTAPE IS SO POOR AS TO EFFECTIVELY RENDER IT "USELESS" TO DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The admissibility of evidence is within the trial court's discretion. *State v. Peters*, 192 Wis.2d 674, 685, 534 N.W.2d 867 (Ct.App. 1995). This Court reviews the circuit court's evidentiary decisions for an erroneous exercise of discretion. The trial court is within its discretion so long as it examined the relevant facts, applied a proper legal standard and reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach through a demonstrated, rational process. *City of West Bend v. Wilkens*, 2005 WI App 36, 278 Wis.2d 643, 693 N.W.2d 324; *State v. Munford*, 2010 WI App 168, ¶ 27, 330 Wis.2d 575, 794 N.W.2d 264.

The order of the trial court should be affirmed as the record fails to demonstrate an erroneous exercise of discretion.

Defendant-Respondent Schoengarth does not dispute that evidence of standardized field sobriety testing is relevant and probative to the issue of whether a driver is impaired as articulated in *City of West Bend v. Wilkens*, 2005 WI App

36, 278 Wis.2d 643, 693 N.W.2d 324. However, as noted in City of West Bend v.

### Wilkens,

The admissibility of evidence is within the trial court's discretion. State v. Peters, 192 Wis.2d 674, 685, 534 N.W.2d 867 (Ct.App. 1995). We will not overturn its decision absent an erroneous exercise of such discretion. *Id.* The trial court is within its discretion so long as it examined the relevant facts, applied a proper legal standard, and reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach through a demonstrated rational process. *Id. supra. City of West Bend v. Wilkens*, 2005 WI App 36, 278 Wis.2d 643, 693 N.W.2d 324.

The State would have this Court believe that factually this case involves nothing more than a "routine" OWI defendant consenting to the performance of standardized field sobriety testing and then objecting to the results being offered at trial such as was the case in *City of West Bend v. Wilkens* where the underlying scientific basis of standardized field sobriety testing was challenged. *Id.* The State failed to mention the only evidence presented to the trial court in advance of the motion hearing and at the motion hearing was the Affidavit of Robert Schoengarth (11:1-2; R-App. 108-109) and the subject videotape (22:8-11). The Criminal Complaint (6:1-7; R-App. 101-107), referenced by the State as its only factual basis in support of its Statement of the Case, states in pertinent part,

I then returned to the vehicle and asked the driver Robert Schoengarth, if he would be willing to perform field sobriety tests. He agreed and walked to the back of his vehicle. (6:3; R-App. 103).

Further, Mr. Schoengarth completed field sobriety testing as requested (6:3; R-App. 103). However, what takes this case out of the realm of "routine" is the fact that Mr. Schoengarth specifically requested, as a condition of securing his consent to voluntary standardized field sobriety testing, that the results of his performance of the testing be secured by way of videotape for future evidentiary use if necessary (11:1-2; R-App. 108-109). Schoengarth's Affidavit was submitted to the trial court with the motion and, as indicated, was the only evidence presented prior to and at the time of the motion. The trial court requested the review of the videotape and based upon the trial court's review of the facts submitted at the time of the motion as well as the evidence being sought to be excluded, in the absence of the submission of evidence by the State or any written opposition to the motion, granted Schoengarth's request.

The State cites this Court to *State v. Munford*, 2010 WI App 168, ¶ 27, 330 Wis.2d 575, 794 N.W.2d 264, as the "Standard of Review" in the case at bar. Factually, the issues presented in *Munford* are substantially akin to the issues presented in this case. *Id*.

In *Munford*, the defendant appealed a judgment of conviction for a first degree intentional homicide case arguing that his due process rights were violated when the State destroyed evidence with apparent exculpatory value. Specifically, Munford claimed that his due process rights were violated when the State destroyed his van before his criminology expert was able to examine it and that the van's purported exculpatory value should have been apparent to the State at the time the van was destroyed. Munford further claimed that his criminology expert was unable to obtain other comparable evidence by reasonable means. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals in Munford conducted an in depth "due process

analysis" articulating the general rule that,

The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution imposes a duty on the State to preserve exculpatory evidence." *State v. Greenwold*, 181 Wis.2d 881, 885, 512 N.W.2d 237 (Ct.App. 1994) (*Greenwold* \*\*269 I).

The Court further articulated the Greenwold analysis by noting that,

The State's destruction of evidence violates a defendant's due process rights 'if the police: (1) failed to preserve ... evidence that is apparently exculpatory; or (2) acted in bad faith by failing to preserve evidence which is potentially exculpatory'. *State v. Greenwold*, 189 Wis.2d 59, 67, 525 N.W.2d 294 (Ct.App. 1994) (*Greenwold I I*).

As noted in *Munford*, since Munford admitted the "difficulty of

determining bad faith", Munford argued only to the Court of Appeals that the State

"failed to preserve apparently exculpatory evidence". State v. Munford, 2010 WI

App 168, ¶ 27, 330 Wis.2d 575, 794 N.W.2d 264.

The *Munford* Court identified the standard of review relative to a claim that evidence was lost or destroyed in violation of due process noting that the Court "independently apply the constitutional standard to the facts as found by the trial court". *Id.* 

In *Munford*, the Court identified those factors which Munford needed to demonstrate in order to establish that the State violated his due process rights by destroying apparently exculpatory evidence. The Court, citing *State v. Oinas*, 125 Wis.2d 487, 490, 373 N.W.2d 463 (Ct.App. 1985) (emphasis omitted), indicated that, Munford must demonstrate that: (1) the evidence destroyed "possess[ed] an exculpatory value that was apparent to those who had custody of the evidence ... before the evidence was destroyed," and (2) the evidence is "of such a nature that the defendant [is] unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means". *State v. Munford*, 2010 WI App 168, ¶ 27, 330 Wis.2d 575, 794 N.W.2d 264.

In this case, prior to the evidence, to-wit: the videotape, even being obtained by the State, Defendant-Respondent advised of his belief that the same would be exculpatory and consented to otherwise voluntary testing with the express condition that the same be videotaped to preserve the exculpatory value. Clearly, the value was apparent to those who had custody of the evidence before the evidence was destroyed.

Moreover, the videotaped performance of the tests which clearly is the "best evidence" of the Defendant-Respondent's performance as opposed to a biased description by law enforcement is and was clearly "of such a nature that the defendant is unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonable means".

While Plaintiff-Appellant cites the Court to Wis. Stat. § 904.02 in its opening commentary relative to "relevant evidence", Wis. Stat. § 904.03 specifically provides for the exclusion of relevant evidence. Section 904.03 states in pertinent part:

**Exclusion of relevant evidence on grounds of prejudice, confusion, or waste of time.** Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its <u>probative value is substantially outweighed by the</u> <u>danger of unfair prejudice</u>, confusion f the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or <u>needless</u> <u>presentation of cumulative evidence</u>. (emphasis added). As identified by Plaintiff-Appellant, the Defendant-Respondent's Motion in Limine was to exclude two of three standardized field sobriety tests typically employed by law enforcement for the purpose of establishing probable cause to arrest and subsequently offered at trial to support an officer's opinion that the defendant's ability to drive his automobile was impaired. The results of standardized field sobriety testing combined with observed indicia of intoxication and driving conduct "typically" constitutes the basis of the opinion.

In the absence of the Walk-and-Turn test and One-Leg-Stand test, the Court is still capable of determining probable cause based upon the performance of the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus testing which, of course, as identified in this case, resulted in a total of six clues, the maximum available in the performance of the test (6:5; R-App. 105). Had the Defendant-Respondent had a hip, knee or back problem that would have prevented the performance of the Walk-and-Turn test and/or the One-Leg-Stand test, probable cause would have been supported by HGN testing coupled with driving conduct and indicia of intoxication.

In this case no probable cause challenge was made by Defendant-Respondent.

At trial the State is entitled to offer evidence related to driving conduct, indicia of intoxication as articulated in the Complaint and what the State will argue as a "complete failure" of Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus testing as a basis for the arresting officer's opinion that the Defendant-Respondent's ability to drive a motor vehicle was impaired. As such, evidence regarding the Walk-and-Turn test

and One-Leg-Stand test is in fact "cumulative evidence" as defined by Wis. Stat. § 904.03 offered solely for the purpose of "bolstering" the arresting officer's opinion at trial.

Moreover, in light of the facts presented to the trial court, specifically, that law enforcement "negotiated" the consent of the Defendant-Respondent to submit to voluntary standardized field sobriety testing based upon an agreement to videotape the same, the loss or destruction of the videotape relative to its useful value is unfairly prejudicial as defined by Wis. Stat. §904.03 in that it eliminates Defendant-Respondent's ability to cross examine the arresting officer and the assisting officer with the videotape and further mandates that the Defendant-Respondent testify to explain the circumstances surrounding the videotape, i.e., "conditional consent" and to rebut allegations regarding performance by law enforcement, effectively forcing Defendant-Respondent to testify where he would otherwise not be required to do so.

Exclusion of evidence under Wis. Stat. § 904.03 is clearly within the discretion of the trial court. *Jones v. State*, 70 Wis.2d 41, 233 N.W.2d 430 (1975). The ruling of the trial court in this case is clearly consistent with Wis. Stat. § 904.03.

To argue that the Defendant-Respondent is not unfairly prejudiced as a result of the Court's ruling, the State has advanced the argument that Schoengarth could "call as a witness in his defense the passenger in his vehicle". (Brief of Plaintiff-Appellant; Page 11).

As no facts were presented by the prosecution at the hearing on the Defendant-Respondent's motion in opposition to Defendant-Respondent's motion, the only reference to a passenger is included in the Criminal Complaint wherein the Complaint identifies a single passenger in the vehicle who had not been consuming alcohol (6:3; R-App. 103).

Assuming, arguendo, that the passenger was seated in the right front passenger seat given the Complaint referencing the operation of a "blue truck" the ability of a passenger to be able to make observations from the cab of a truck to the rear of the truck and observe walking/standing tests conducted between the rear of truck and the front of a patrol vehicle is questionable at best. Further, foundationally, even if the passenger were able to make observations regarding performance, foundation for the passenger to "critique" the performance would be lacking. Lastly, the credibility challenge to the testimony of the passenger based upon the foregoing coupled with the passenger's relationship to the Defendant-Respondent clearly renders any observations which the passenger might have made as "useless" as the videotape.

#### <u>CONCLUSION</u>

It is clear that the trial court examined the undisputed relevant facts presented by Defendant-Respondent at the hearing on December 2, 2014 and applied a proper legal standard consistent with Wis. Stat. § 904.03 and the conclusion reached by the trial court is, under the circumstances of this case, a

conclusion that any reasonable judge could reach through an identical

demonstrated rational process.

Accordingly, Defendant-Respondent, Schoengarth, respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the Order of the circuit court granting Defendant-Respondent's Motion.